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Anited States District Court
Central Bistrict of California
FEDERAL TRADE COMISSION, Case No. 2:16-cv-01048-ODW-JPR
Plaintiff,
V. ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S

MOTION FOR DEFAULT
GOOD EBUSINESS, LLC, also d/b/a| JUDGMENT [45]
AAP FIRM, STUDENT LOAN HELP
DIRECT, and SELECT STUDENT
LOAN; SELECT STUDENT LOAN
HELP, LLC; SELECT DOCUMENT
PREPARATION, INC.; TOBIAS
WEST; and KOMAL WEST,
Defendants, and
BEVERLY HILLS TAX GROUP, LLC,
RelieDefendant.
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l. INTRODUCTION

On March 8, 2016, Platiff Federal Trade Commission filed its First Amend
Complaint against Defendants Good Ebusid LC (doing business as AAP Firr
Student Loan Help Direct, and Select Studedn), Select Studé Loan Help, LLC,
Select Document Preparation, Inc., Tobdsst, and Komal West (“Defendants”), |
well as Relief Defendant Beverly Hillceax Group, LLC (“Relief Defendant”).

Plaintiff alleges Defendants violatéte Federal Trade Commission Act (“FT|
Act”), the Telemarketing and Camser Fraud and Abuse Prevention A
(“Telemarketing Act”), and the 2009 Ontmis Appropriations Act (“2009 Omnibu
Act”) by preying on financially strugglingonsumers and promising to make th
mortgage or student loan payments sasally lower by rengotiating with their

lender—but without ever having any intem of actually doing so. (First Am.

Compl. (“FAC”), ECF No. 31.) The Clkrof Court entered default again
Defendants Good Ebusis®e Student Loan Help Dire$elect Student Loan, Sele
Student Loan Help, and Select DocumBn¢paration (“Defdting Defendants”) and
Relief Defendant on Malhc29, 2016. (ECF No. 40.Plaintiff subsequently moveq
for default judgment against Defaulting Dedaints, in which Plaintiff seeks moneta
relief equal to revenues less chargidsabetween August 2013 and the end
February 2016 (totalling $2,3266), disgorgement of all funds in Beverley Hills T
Group’s accounts, and an injunctionnbang Defaulting Defendants from sellin
unsecured or secured debt relief prod or services, making materi
misrepresentations in connection with gmpduct or service, or making claims
connection with any product or servicatlvout possessing competent and relia
substantiation. (Mot. Default J. (“M&6) 8-13, ECF No. 45.) For the reaso
discussed below, the CO@RANTS Plaintiff's Motion

! After carefully considering the papers filedsopport of the Motion, the Court deems the ma
appropriate for decision wibut oral argument. Fed. R. Civ. P. 78; L.R. 7-15.
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.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Plaintiff Federal Trade Gomission (“FTC”) is an indeendent agency of th

United States Government created byU5.C. 88 41—58. (FAC { 4.) Defendant

Good Ebusiness, LLC (“GEB”) is incorpoeat in Nevada and baalso done busines
as The AAP Firm (“AAP”), Student Loan HeDirect (“SLHD”), and Select Studen
Loan (“SSL”). (d. 1 6.) Defendant Select Studdman Help, LLC (“SSLH") is
incorporated in Florida. (d.]J 7.) Defendant Select Document Preparation,
(“SDP”) is also incgporated in Nevada.ld. § 8.) Each corporation is controlled |
Defendants Tobias West aht wife, Komal West. Id. 11 9-10.) Ref Defendant
Beverly Hills Tax Group has received funds assets that can be traced
Defendants’ fraudulent business prees as alleged in the FACId(] 11.)

From at least January 2014 to AugBéti4, Defendants GEB (d/b/a AAP) at
Tobias West engaged in a course of cohdoanarket and sell mortgage assistal
relief services (“MARS”). Id. T 14.) These “MARS Def@lants” marketed thei
services primarily via unsolicited outboutedemarketing calls, inbound telemarketi
calls from consumers responding to online atisieg at their website, and direct mg
advertising. Id. § 15.) To induce consumer$/ARS Defendants promise
consumers that they would lower th@nsumer's monthly mortgage payme
mortgage interest rate, ortain loan forbearance, a loamodification, or other loar
restructuring. Id. T 16.) FurthermoreMlARS Defendants purporteto be a law firm
that would provide forensic loan auditsida other services to identify errors
consumers’ mortgage loan documents, teod predatory lending practices, gath
information to defend against foreclosuand win concessions from lendersd. {
17.)) MARS Defendants charged an initial up-front fee, ranging from $1,00

$5,000, and represented that, if they wereblenéo secure the promised relief, the

would fully refund all fees paid by the consumerkl. { 18.) However, in numerou
instances, MARS Defendants failed to obttie promised relief for their custome
and have not provided the promised refund. { 19.)
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From at least June 2014 to the presdéyefendants GEB (d/b/a SLHD arn
SSL), SSLH, SDP, Tobias West, and Komé&st (“Student DebRelief Defendants”)
have engaged in a similar cearof conduct to market aséll a program that aims t
renegotiate, settle, or otherwislter the terms of payment for a customer’s stug

loan debt. Id. Y 37, 40-41.) Student Debt Relieff@redants represent that, if the

are unable to secure the promised dedbief, they will refund the fees paid b
consumers Ifl. T 38.) However, in numeroumstances Student Debt Reli
Defendants have failed to obtain theomised relief and have not provided t
promised refund. Id.) Relief Defendant Beverly Hills Tax Group has receiv
directly or indirectly, funds or other assétsm Defendants that are traceable to fur

obtained from Defendants’ customers throtigdsse mortgage and student loan reli

practices. 1. 1 84.)

On February 16, 2016, Plaintiff fileds initial Complaint against Defendan
seeking a permanent injunction and other ebleteelief. (ECF No. 1.) Plaintiff alsc
requested an Ex Parte Temporary Restngi®rder (“TRO”) andsought asset relie
and the appointment of a receiver. (ER&. 3.) The Court granted the TRO. (EC
No. 12.) On February 29, 2016, the Goentered a preliminary injunction again
Defendants Tobias and Koim&est, and against Defing Defendants on March 1
2016. (ECF Nos. 26-27.)On March 8, 2016, Plairtifiled its First Amended

Complaint, adding Beverley Hills Tax Groulpl.C, as a relief defendant. (ECF Np.

31.) On March 29, 2016, aft®efendants failed to timekespond to Plaintiff's FAC,
the Clerk of Court entered a default agsiDefaulting Defendants GEB (d/b/a AA
SLHD, and SSL), SSLH, and SD&nd Relief Defendant Besley Hills Tax Group.
(ECF No. 40.) Plaintiff suleguently filed the present Mon for Default Judgment
(ECF No. 45.) Plaintiff's Motion is nowefore the Court for decision.
lll.  LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Prmedure 55(b) authorizes a district court to ente

default judgment after the Clerk enters dadé& under Rule 55(a). District cour
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have discretion over whether émter default judgmentAldabe v. Aldabe616 F.2d
1089, 1092 (9th Cir. 1980). When a pamoves for a default judgment, the Col

urt

accepts the well-pleaded factual allegatiansthe complaint as true, with th
exception that the moving party must submit evidence establishing the amo
damages soughtTelevideo Sysinc. v. Heidenthal826 F.2d 915, 917-19 (9th Ci

1987) (per curiam); Fed. R. Civ. P. (6% (“[a] judgment by default shall not be

different in kind or exceed in amoungtiprayed for in the [complaint]”).

In exercising its discretion, a coumtust consider several factors (tEdel
factors), which include: (1) the possibility pfejudice to the plaintiff; (2) the merit
of the plaintiff's substantivelaim; (3) the sufficiency afhe complaint; (4) the sum @
money at stake; (5) the possibility of aplite concerning material facts; (6) whetl

e
unt

I

—

ner

the defendant’s default was due to esalle neglect; and (7) the strong polillcy

underlying the Federal Rules of Civil Bemlure favoring decisions on the meri
Eitel v. McCool,782 F.2d 1470, 1471-72 (9th Cir. 1986).

IV. DISCUSSION
A.  Procedural Requirements

Before a court can enter a default judginagainst a defendant, the plaint
must satisfy the procedural requirementsfegh in Federal Rules of Civil Procedu
54(c) and 55, as well as Local Rule 5541ocal Rule 55-1 requires that the movag
submit a declaration establishing: (1) whemd against which party the default w
entered; (2) identification of the pleadi on which the default was entered; (
whether the defaulting party is a mindncompetent person, or active servi
member; and (4) that the defaulting party wasperly served with notice if require(
Vogel v. Rite Aid Corp992 F. Supp. 2d 998, 16QC.D. Cal. 2014).

Here, Plaintiff has satisfied these reqments. Plaintiff's counsel submitted
declaration stating that the Clerk entered a default against Defendants on th
Amended Complaint on Manc29, 2016. (Durham @& Y 2, ECF No. 45-1see also
ECF No. 40.) Plaintiff's counsel alseedares that Defaulting Defendants are
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infants, incompetent, or aice service members, and thAey were properly serve
with written notice via email on May 13, 2016Durham Decl. 11 4-6.) Plaintiff
have thus complied with the proceduradm@quisites for default judgment.
B. Eite Factors

The Court finds that th&itel factors also weigh in favor of default judgme
The Court will discuss each factor in turn.

I. Plaintiff Would Suffer Prejudice

The first Eitel factor considers whether a plaff will suffer prejudice if the
Court does not enter a default judgment against Defend@apsiCo, Inc. v. Cal
Security Cans238 F. Supp. 2d 1172, 1177 (C.D. Cal. 2002). Plaintiff contends t
would suffer prejudice in the absence oflefault judgment, as it will be forced t

commit time and resources to prosecutavesuit in which theDefaulting Defendants

will not participate. See, e.g.Fed. Trade Comm. v. 1263523 Ontario |rn205 F.
Supp. 205, 208-09 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (deniald&fault judgment would be “unfairly
prejudicial’ to the FTC when defendantléa to respond to a agplaint or default
motion, or to enter an appearance). Thastor favors entry of default judgme
because Defaulting Defendants have faile@pear or offer a defense in this ca
Therefore, the only way Plaintiff can obtainieéas well as saveesources is througl
default judgment.

. Merits of the Claims and Sufficiency of the Complaint

The second and third factors, the meoit$laintiff's substantive claims and th
sufficiency of its Complaint, also support entry of default judgment. These factc
require plaintiffs to “state alaim upon which they may recoverS3ee Philip Morris
USA, Inc. v. Castworld Prods., InR@19 F.R.D. 494, 499 (C.D. Cal. 2003).

a. Falseor Unsubstantiated Representations Claims

Plaintiff contends that Defendant®ade false and unsubstantiated clai
regarding their ability to Mver consumers’ mortgagen@ student loan payment
(FAC 1Y 52-57.) Under the FTC Act, unfaiethods of competition in or affectin
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commerce, and unfair or deceptive actspaactices in or affecting commerce, g
unlawful. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a). False armisleading representation has an al
competitive effect. Cal. Dental Ass’'n v. Fed. Trade Comr26 U.S. 756, 771-7!
(1999). Business practices charactedi by deception, bad faith, fraud, a
oppression are unfair methods of competitioBonsol. Book Publ'rs, Inc. v. Feq
Trade Comm.53 F.2d 942, 945 (1931).

Here, Defendants represented themsebsdawyers that would substantial

lower a consumer’s mortgage and/oudsint loan payments. (FAC 11 52, 55.

Furthermore, they told consumers that thveguld refund their fees if they wer
unsuccessful in obtaining the promised relidfl. {{ 25, 52, 55 However, Plaintiff
alleges that upon failure to obtain lowgaslyments, Defendants did not provide {
promised refunds.|d. Y 31, 49.) Plaintiff also alleges that such representations
false or unsubstantiated atethime they were made. Id( 1 53, 56.) Becaus
plaintiff's allegations are takeas true on default, the Court finds that Plaintiff |
made its prima facie case for a sectionaj5(iolation. Therefore, the False at
Unsubstantiated Representatiaf@ams are deemed meritorious.
b. MARS Rules Violations Claims
In 2009, Congress directed the FTC prescribe rules prohibiting unfair ¢

deceptive acts or practices with respeantrtgage loans. 2009 Omnibus Act § 62

123 Stat. at 678, as clarified by the Credit Card Act, § 511, 123 Stat. at 176
These provisions were subsequently cedifat 12 C.F.R. PA1015 and renamef

“Regulation O.” Under these regulatiorss;'mortgage assistance relief provider”|i

“any person that provides, offeto provide, or arrangesrfothers to provide, any
mortgage assistance relief seei’ other than the dwelling dm holder, the servicer g
a dwelling loan, or any agent or contractosoth an individual or entity. 12 C.F.R.
1015.2(j). Here, Defendantsngaged in a course of coreduto market and sel

MARS, including home loan modification s&®s. (FAC 11 13-31.) Therefore, the

are subject to the MARS regulations.
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Plaintiff contends that MARS Defendis committed multiple violations o
Regulation O. Ifl. 58-68.) To request or receipayment of any fee, before th

consumer has executed a written agreementtiviin dwelling loan holder or service

that incorporates the offer of mortgage sissice relief that the provider obtained, i
violation of Regulation O. 12 C.F.R. B)15.5(a). Representing that a consur
cannot or should not contact or communicate \wighor her lender or servicer is als
a violation. 12 C.F.R. 8 1015.3(a). Furtnere, it is a violation to misrepreser
expressly or by implication, material pests of one’s services. 12 C.F.R.
1015.3(b)(1)—(4), (6), (8). Finally, one violates MARS Regulation O if t
inadequately disclose that 1) one’s servi@esnot associated with the government
one’s lender may not agree to change ltgan; 3) one may choose not to pay 1
services if they decline thmortgage assistance from their lender; and 4) if one s

paying their lender they couldse their home and damatfesir credit. 12 C.F.R. §

1015.4(a)(1)-(2), (b)(1)—(3), (c).
Here, Plaintiff alleges consumers pAARS Defendants advances of $500
$5,000 prior to the consumer executing a wnitigreement with the lender or servig

that incorporated an offer fdoan modification. (FAC {97, 65.) Plaintiff contends

that MARS Defendants have representathee expressly or by implication, that
consumer cannot or should not contactcommunicate with his or her lender

servicer. Id. 11 24, 66.) Furthermore, Plafh asserts that MARS Defendan
materially misrepresented consumers'’litkeod of obtaining a mortgage modificatig

that would make their payments substdlytimore affordable, the amount of time |i

would take to accomplish any represented service or resalsumers’ obligation tg
make payments, and the ability teceive legal representationld.(Y 21-24, 67.)
Moreover, Plaintiff claims that MARS Defdants did not disclose to consumers t
1) they were not associated with the goweent; 2) that lenders may not agree
change the loan; 3) they may choose not tofpatheir services if they declined th

mortgage assistance offereand 4) they could lostheir home and damage thei
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credit if they stopped paying their lenderld. (1 20-21, 68.) Because Plaintiff
allegations are taken as troe default, the Court finds ah Plaintiff made out a prim:
facie case for violation of MARS Regulation O.

C. Telemarketing Sales Rle Violations Claims

Congress directed the FTC to prescribkes prohibiting abusive and decepti
telemarketing acts or practices pursuanth& Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 610
et seq A “telemarketer” is any person wham connection with telemarketing
initiates or receives telephoraalls to or from a customer or donor. 16 C.F.R
310.2(cc). A “seller” is any person who, in connection with a telemarket
transaction, provides, offers to provide, amranges for others to provide goods
services to a customer in exchange farstderation. 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa). A “d¢g
relief service” refers to any pgram or service representelitectly or by implication,
to renegotiate, settle, or any way alter the tens of payment or other terms of tk
debt between a person andeoor more unsecured creditors or debt collectors.
C.F.R. 8 310.2(m). Here, Student Debti&eDefendants madmitial outbound calls
to potential customers. (FAC { 40.) Furiigtudent Debt RelidDefendants offereg
to provide alterations to the payment débt between customers and creditors
exchange for a fee. Ild. 1 37—-49.) Therefore, tHeTC rules prohibiting certair
telemarketing rules apply to Studdédebt Relief Defendants.

Plaintiff contends that Student DeBelief Defendants committed multipl
violations of the Telemarketg Sales Rule Act (“TSR”). Iqd. 11 69-83.) The TSH
prohibits any seller or telemarketer fronyuesting or receiving payment of any fe
or consideration for any debelief service unless a) thdiave renegotiated, settle
reduced, or otherwise alterélde terms of at least one debt pursuant to a settle
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agreement, debt management plan, orradbeh valid contractual agreement executed

by the customer and b) the customer has made at least one payment pursuar
agreement. 16 C.F.R. 8 310.4(a)(5)(1). The TSR also prohibits misrepresenta
debt relief services includinggllers’ affiliation with thegovernment and any materi
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aspect of any debt relief services. C.F8R310.3(a)(2)(vii), (x). Finally, under th
TSR, sellers and telemarketers are prohibftem failing to disclge truthfully that
the use of the debt relief service magraase the amount of money the custor
owes due to the accrual of fees anéiiest. 16 C.F.R. 810.3(a)(1)(viii)(C).

ner

Here, Plaintiff contends that Studdd¢bt Relief Defendastrequired paymen

of a fee typically ranging from $500 to $8(f}jor to consumers executing a writtén

agreement with their lender or servicer timebrporates an offdor student loan deb

relief. (FAC 11 45, 78.) Plaintiff as$e that Student Debt Relief Defendants
misrepresented their affiliation with tlgovernment by claiming a false association

with the United States Degiment of Education. 14.9 44.) Furthermore, Plaintif
alleges that Student Debt il Defendants made materialisrepresentations wh

they represented to consumers 1) that thewyld renegotiate, setfler alter the termg
of payment of consumers’ student loan debts to secure a specified lower paym
that the promised debt relief is guaeed and if they are unable to secure

promised debt relief they will fully refundonsumers’ fees; and 3) that consum
would not be responsible fthe interest that accrues during forbearande. ] 42—
43, 47.) On many occasions, consumers hatereceived the@romised relief and

upon contacting their lender discovered tBandent Debt RelfeDefendants never

made contact. Id. { 48.) Subsequently, many congimhave been unable to recei
their refund. Id. T 49.) Moreovermany consumers have accrued thousand
dollars in unpaid interest during forbeace based on the misrepresentationd. [
47.) Lastly, Plaintiff asserts that Stud@webt Relief Defendants ifad to disclose to
customers that debt relief service magrease the amount of money the custor
owes due to fees and interestdd. {1 47, 49, 83.) Plaiifit has alleged sufficient
facts to support a TelemarketiBgles Rule Actlaim.

iii.  The Amount at Stake Weighsin Favor of Default Judgment

The fourth factor balances the sum mbney at stake “in relation to th
seriousness of the actionl”’ehman Bros. Holdings In@. Bayporte Enters., IncNo.
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C 11-0961-CW2011 WL 6141079, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Odt, 2011) (internal citations

and quotations omitted). The amount at stakust not be disproportionate to t
harm alleged.ld. Judgment by default is disfavoredhere the sum of money at sta
Is too large or unreasonablerglation to defadant’s conduct.Truong Giang Corp. v
Twinstar Tea Corp.No. C 06-03594 JSW, 2007 WII545173, at *12 (N.D. Cal. May
29, 2007).

Plaintiff seeks $2,329,456 as well asgdigyement of frozen funds from Relig
Defendant. (Mot. 6.) $2,329,456 reprdsethe net sales venue (revenues leg
chargebacks and refunds) frddefaulting Defendants’ debklief operations. (Van
Wazer Decl. Y 6-11, ECF No. 7-1; SetBlacl. § 4, ECF No. 45-2.) The Col
received bank statements that demi@te Defendants and Relief Defends
commingled funds and otherwise operated @a®mmon enterprise. (Exs. A-B, EC
No. 32-1.) Therefore, the requested relief is directly proportional to the seriousn

Defendants’ conduct becauseaepresents value of the camser injury they caused.

This factor favors entering a default judgment.

iv.  There is No Possibility of Dspute as to Material Facts

The nextEitel factor considers the possibility thaiaterial facts & in dispute.
PepsiCo 238 F. Supp. 2d at 1173¢e also Eitel782 F.2d at 1471-72Jpon entry of
default, all well-pleaded facts ithe complaint are taken as tru€epsiCo 238 F.
Supp. 2d at 1177. As discussed above,nkthihas adequately stated claims f
violations of the FTC, MARS, and TSR Adtsits FAC. Defendants did not appe

and thus the Court takes these allegationswes This factortherefore, favors the

entry of default judgmerdgainst Defendants.
V. There is Little Possibility Default was Due to Excusable Neglect

Defendants’ default does not appear tabesult of excusable neglect. Whe

there is little possibility of excusable negt, default judgment is favored when t
defendant fails to respond after being properly serv8de Wecosign, Inc. v. IF(
Holdings, Inc, 845 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 1082 (C.D. C2012) (default judgment i
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favored when defendant has bgwaperly served or the ptaiff demonstrates that th
defendant is aware of the lawsuit). Ddfang Defendants werproperly served with
the FAC by e-mail on March 8, 2016. (ECF No. 34.) Defendants authorized s
by e-mail on February, 24, 2016Ex. A, ECF No. 39-1.) Furtheentry of default
judgment is appropriate when a poration fails to retain counseSee High Country
Broad Co., Ing. 3 F.3d 1244, 1245 (9th. Cir. 2013)Here, Defendants failed t
respond or appear before this Court andndiiobtain counsel. Accordingly, the six
Eitel factor favors default judgment.

vi.  Policy of Deciding Cases on the Merits

In Eitel, the court maintained that “[c]asskould be decided upon their mer
whenever reasonably possible.” 782 F.2d4%2. However, wher@s in the case g

bar, a defendant fails to answer the pléfistcomplaint, “a decision on the merits [i$

impractical, if not impossible.”PepsiCo 238 F. Supp. 2d 177 (“Under Fed. R
Civ. P. 55(a), termination of a case befbearing the merits iallowed whenever &
defendant fails to defend an action.”) Because Defandled to respond tg
Plaintiff's complaint, the Court finds the seventh and fikatel factor does nof
preclude default judgment. AccordinglyetiCourt finds defauljudgment proper in
the instant matter.
C. Relief Sought

After determining liability, the Court nsti determine the relief to which th
Plaintiff is entitled. Wecosign845 F. Supp. 2d at 1078Vhile for purposes of defaul
judgment the Court generally accepts as thgefactual allegations of the complair
the Court need not do so regarding damadys.

I Monetary Relief Equal to Revenues Less Chargebacks

Plaintiff seeks monetary relief of $23,456, which is ta net sales revenu
(revenues less chargebacks arfdrrds) of Defendants’ debelief operations. (Mot
6.) When consumers suffer economic injingm a violation ofthe FTC Act, equity
supports granting monetary reledual to the resulting injurySee Fed. Trade Comn
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v. Stefanchik559 F.3d 924, 931 (9tGir. 2009) (affirmingsummary judgment awar

equal to the full amount of loss incurred by consumefgd. Trade Comm. .

Inc21.com Corp.745 F. Supp. 2d 975, 1011 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (“[because the]
Act was designed to protect consumers fromnemic injuries . . . courts have oftg
awarded restitution in the full amount oinfils lost by consumers rather than limiti
restitution solely to a defendant’s profi)s. The correct measure of the monets
award is “the amount of money paid bgnsumers, lessng refunds made.”Fed.
Trade Comm. v. Commerce Planet, Jri€.Supp. 2d 1048, 1088 (C.D. Cal. 2012).
long as the FTC reasonably approximatesatmeunt of consumer harm, that dama
figure should stand unless a defemdaan show it is not reasonableSec. Exch
Comm. v. Platforms Wireless Int'l Coy®l17 F.3d 1072, 1096 (9th Cir. 2010) (t
risk of uncertainty of a monetary judgmeshould fall on thevrongdoer whose illegal
conduct created that uncertainty).

Here, FTC'’s forensic accountant, Tovian Wazer, analyzed the bank recof
provided by Defaulting Defendés’ financial institutions and calculated the amount

FTC
N

\ry

So

jge

ds
of

revenues, less chargebacks, thafeDdants received from August 2013 throu
March 2015 as $1,031,274. (Van Wazer D8®.) FTC paralegal Eric Setala al
analyzed bank records and calculated tlvenmaes, less chargebacks, that Defend:
received from April 2015 through Februa2916 as $1,298,182. (Ex. A., ECF N
45-2.) Therefore, an award of $2,329,45@ppropriate because thssthe total paid
by consumers less any refunohade, and because Defemdamade no showing tha
this amount is unreasonable.

. Disgorgement of Funds inRelief Defendant’s Accounts

Plaintiff also seeks disgorgement df faands in Relief Defendant’s account
(Mot. 9.) Federal courts may order eqghiearelief as to a person against whom
wrongdoing is alleged in an femcement action “if it is established that the rel
defendant possesses propertypasfits illegally obtainedand the relief defendant ha
no legitimate claim to them.Fed. Trade Comm. v. Tk Achievement Corpl44 F.
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Supp. 2d 1013, 1020 (N.D. Ind. 2000) (citiBgc. Exch. Comm. v. Cher¢#33 F.2d
403, 414 & n.11 (7th Cir. 1991). “The ill-gen gains must be linked to the unlawi
practices of the liable defendantdzed. Trade Comm. v. Bronson Partners, |.6C4
F. Supp. 2d 373, 392 (D. Conn. 2009), aff'd, 654 F.3d 359 (2d Cir. 2011). [
tracing is unnecessary where, for exampthere is a common enterprise
commingling of funds. See Fed. Trade Comm. Network Serv.’s Depot, Inc617
F.3d 1127, 1142 (9th Cir. 20104 party lacks a legitimate claim to illegally obtaing
assets where he or she does not pl@wonsideration for those fundsec. Exch.

Comm. v. VassalldNo. CIV-S-09- 0665 LKK/DAD,2012 WL 1868559, at *3 (E.D,

Cal. 2012). Thus “the receipt of properas a gift, without the payment of arn
consideration, does not create a ‘legitimagem’ sufficient to immunize the propert

from disgorgement.”"Commod. Futures Trawg Comm. v. Walsl618 F.3d 218, 226

(2d Cir. 2010).
On February 19, 2016, Defendant SD&hsferred $20,000 from its bank to t

bank account of Relief Dafidant. (Prelim. Report of T@p. Receiver 3—4, ECF Naq.

24.) The temporary receiver conclud#deht Defendants ral Relief Defendant
appeared to operate as a common enterptise Furthermore, in between Decemb
2015 and January 2016, RelieffBadant processed $11,600consumer payment
through its merchant accounto one of Defenda SDP’s accounts(Ex. A, ECF No.
32-1.) During this same period, Relief Ded@nt issued payroll checks to Defend:
Kamal West totaling $32,483, when thewas only $17,835 irRelief Defendant’s
account to make such a pagmt. (Ex. B, ECF No. 32-R. Because the funds wel
illegally obtained and there was no consadien provided, and because there

evidence of a common enteg®| disgorgement of all fds in Relief Defendant’s

accounts is appropriate.

iii.  Injunctive Relief

Plaintiff also seeks injunctive relighat 1) bans Defendants from sellir
unsecured or secured debt relief products or services; 2) enjoins Defendant
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making material misrepresetitmms in connection with theale of financial products
or services, other than secured or unsecdedxd relief products or services, including

certain misrepresentations specific to final products or serses; 3) prohibits
material misrepresentations in connection i@ sale of any products or service; g
4) enjoins Defendants from making claimsonnection with the $a of any products

or services without possessing competant reliable substantiation. (Mot. 11.

Section 13(b) of the FTC Agirovides that “after proper proof, the court may issu

permanent injunction.”Fed. Trade Comm. v. Pantron | Cor33 F.3d 1088, 1102

(9th Cir. 1994) (FTC Act provides courtdtivbroad authority to grant any ancilla
relief necessary to accomplish complgtestice). A permanent injunction i
appropriate where there is a “cognizable danger of recurrent violation, or
reasonable likelihood of future violation&lnited States v. W.T. Grant C845 U.S.

629, 633 (1953). To determitiee appropriate scope of anunction, courts analyze|

“(1) the seriousness and daiateness of the violatio2) the ease with which th
violative claims may be transferred to atpeoducts [or services]; and (3) whether {
[defendant] has a history of prior violationsFed. Trade Comm. v. Grant Conneq
LLC, 763 F.3d 1094, 1105 (9th Cir. 2014).
Here,the injunctive relief is appropriatevgin the seriousness of the FTC A
violations, the scope of consumer injurpdahe transferability othe false claims a
issue to other products and service$he ban on Defendatselling debt relief
products or services is appropriate beeatiey have demonated an inability to
engage in the debt relief business lawfalyd only a permanent ban will assure t
will not similarly be able tdake advantage of consumerstie future. Courts in th¢
Ninth Circuit have approved similar categat bans as proper injunctive reli€ee,
e.g, Fed. Trade Comm. v. JolBeck Amazing Profits, LL3888 F. Supp. 2d 1006
1014-15 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (infomercialarketing and telemarketing baimg21.com
745 F. Supp. 2d at 1010 (ban on telephonic billikgxl. Trade Comm. v. Medico
LLC, F. Supp. 2d 1048, 1050-51 (C.D. Cal. 18, 2002) (telemarketing and worl}

15

\*4

nd

w
QO

p

y

som

D

he

)
—+

\ct
[

ley

\U

I




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N RN N DN DN N NDNN R P RBP RB R R R R R R
0o N o OO » W N PP O © 0 N~ o 0o W N B O

at-home medical billing oppamities bans). The othenjunctive prohibitions are
appropriate because they are reasonablsted to Defaultig Defendants’ illega
practices and have sufficient breadth to pieviencing-in relief to ensure they will
not transfer their business tacttosother products or serviceged. Trade Comm. V.
Colgate-Palmolive C9.380 U.S. 374, 395 (1965) (violatie of the FTC Act justify
fencing-in relief);Litton Indus. v. Fed. Trade Comn676 F.2d 364, 370 (9th Ciy.
1982); John Beck 888 F. Supp. 2d at 1011. Becaudefendants’ violations wers
particularly severe and because of the dfarability of the falseclaims at issue tg

\U

other products and services, thegwsed injunctions are appropriate.
VI. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Co@BRANTS Plaintiff's Application for
Default Judgment against Defendants Gobddiness (d/b/a AAP Firm, Student Loan

Help Direct, and Select Student Loan), Select Student Loan Help, and Sele

Document Preparation as well as Riebefendant BeverleWills Tax Group.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

July 12, 2016

p * &
Y 2007
OTIS D. W_IR1GHT, [l
UNITED STATES.DISTRICT JUDGE
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